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        The sun shining through clouds on the San Francisco Bay, prior to the construction of the Golden Gate Bridge, ca. 1902.
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    San Francisco in ruins following the earthquake and fire of 1906.
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AUTHOR’S NOTE





Once upon a time, I was a reporter who had the good fortune to be assigned to San Francisco as a correspondent for an out-of-town newspaper. As such, it fell upon me to cover breaking news, but between earthquakes, grisly crimes, and internecine city politics, most of my dispatches fortunately were accounts of how the city’s culture, geography, and commerce affected the seven million people who called the Bay Area their home. It was sort of a glamorous job, and I fancied myself as a man-about-town, writing nuanced stories urbane readers would want to devour every morning.


Despite a dream job that had its origins when I hitchhiked cross-country to San Francisco and stayed there for college and much of my professional career, by 1992 I was looking to leave the daily grind of newspaper work. My love affair with San Francisco continued to blossom, but writing about it for a newspaper had not. Most reporters of my generation shared a similar complaint. There was less room to tell stories that mattered—dispatches that in fifty years would be viewed as prescient enough to have marked a pivotal social trend. As newspaper graphics got more colorful, the stories turned more black and white. Dispatches that got the best play were short, upbeat, and zippy. Even back then.


So when a friend suggested that I contact a woman who had “some weird kind of story” about her grandmother, I jumped at the opportunity. Reporters get tips like that all the time, and I was eager to see what my friend’s friend was offering.


On a Tuesday morning, I met Caroline Carlisle at a Richmond District coffee shop and what she told me got my attention instantly. It was the story of her grandmother, Inez Burns, a San Francisco abortionist who lived from 1886 to 1976. Inez had bribed scores of public officials and cops to stay in business, performed tens of thousands of illegal abortions on rich and poor alike, and had become the worst-kept secret not just in San Francisco but throughout California. Inez, Caroline told me, lived a dazzling, risqué life and played it out to the fullest, becoming one of the wealthiest self-made women in California. Inez met her match in a young and opportunistic district attorney by the name of Edmund G. (Pat) Brown, who would eventually become governor, and if kismet had swung his way, president of the United States. Inez and Pat became lifelong foils, cat and mouse. Or mouse and cat. Depending on who was taunting whom and when the taunting took place.


I knew Inez’s story wasn’t for a newspaper. Journalism is about the here and now, and this was a saga about a sliver of untold history. Still, it seemed like a forgotten story of how an extraordinary woman and a singular city commingled. Inez’s rags-to-riches life paralleled the trajectory of California. Her exploits were a metaphor of post–World War II and the race for America to become what it is today. I was instantly hooked.


But when I pitched the story to book agents and editors, I got eye rolls: Who’d want to read about an abortionist, even one who hobnobbed with the rich and famous? Too risky, too contentious. The less revealed about Inez, the better, they told me.


No one encouraged me to plumb Inez’s scandalous life. They waved aside her story as though it were a foul odor defiling the air. “Let sleeping dogs lie” was an expression I heard not just a few times. “Stop your research,” others offered more emphatically. “No good shall come of this.” What exactly were they scared of? I put Inez’s story on hold, one more in a long string of leads that reporters wish they could write but never get to.


Until I found myself writing a feature about a boomlet in San Francisco real estate development along the waterfront.


That’s when I happened to call Corinne Patchen, a smart San Francisco native and gadfly in her mid-sixties. Corinne had the uncanny ability to put anything contemporary into context and leaven it with just the right amount of wisdom and insight. Corinne gave me the astute quotes I was looking for to finish my story, I thought, with a small degree of eloquence.


After I finished the interview with Corinne, I thought to bring up the name Inez Burns. Corinne had a steel-trap memory. That’s why I had called her in the first place. She could recall lines from obscure books and plays she’d read twenty-five years earlier. Corinne was always popping in and out of scores of different-tiered San Francisco social circles. She knew everyone who’d ever been anybody and had the gossipy stories to prove it. She also was just about the right age to have known Inez—or, at least, to have known about her.


“Does the name Inez Burns ring a bell?” I asked tentatively.


Chatty Corinne paused, a pause that seemed to last forever.


Then she dropped the phone. From my end, I heard the landline’s receiver skittering across the floor.


“Corinne, are you still there?”


After several seconds, Corinne followed the accordion cord to the phone and picked it up.


“Oh my,” she said in a barely audible voice. “I haven’t thought about Mrs. Burns in more than forty years.”


I wasn’t sure where this was going, but I noticed a ridge of goose bumps popping up on my forearms.


Corinne took a deep breath and began her story slowly and precisely.


In 1946, Corinne and a soldier met at a USO dance on Mission Street and took an immediate liking to each other. He was to ship out in a week, and over the next five days they spent as much time together as the soldier’s training schedule allowed. On his last night in San Francisco, they ate dinner at Flor d’Italia. They split a bottle of Chianti, and after their meal, drank two espressos and shared a cannoli. Perhaps they had too much wine, perhaps they didn’t. Corinne and the soldier returned to her studio apartment on Russian Hill, where the soldier spent the night. Six weeks later, Corinne discovered she was pregnant.


Corinne did not seek to contact the soldier. Theirs had been no more than a weeklong fling. Corinne had her whole life ahead of her. Marriage to any man, much less a soldier she hardly knew, was the last thing on her mind.


A family friend who was a North Beach attorney in San Francisco directed Corinne to Inez Burns. “Talk to her. She’ll help you. If that’s what you want.”


“I remember going to her Guerrero Street house and sitting in the front room, a beautiful, elegant room,” Corinne told me as though recalling a vivid dream from long ago. “And I remember meeting Inez, a pleasant, kind woman, who sat down in the parlor with me.


“The first thing she asked was, ‘Do you want this baby?’


“Yes!” Corinne recalled blurting out without a moment’s hesitation.


Inez smiled and then paused. “Well, dear, then you don’t belong here,” she said.


“She took me by the hand and showed me the door. And that was the last I ever saw of Mrs. Burns.”


Today, Corinne’s only son is seventy-one, and he has no idea he almost was never born.


There was a moment of silence between Corinne and me, each of us registering the magnitude of my inquiry. Then Corinne asked anxiously, “You won’t be using my name, will you?”


Before I could answer, she added, “Please, please don’t use my name in anything you write about this. Please.”


I assured her I wouldn’t, a promise I’ve kept for twenty-five years, and why I’ve used a pseudonym here, one of two in this book.


“In San Francisco then, we looked out for each other,” Corinne said. “We protected each other. There was nothing sinister about Inez. She was like your grandmother.” We talked some more and I thanked Corinne.


I hung up and promptly wrote my story on land development for the newspaper. But the conversation shook me, as I’m sure it shook Corinne. Her comments piqued my interest once again in Inez Burns. The agents and editors who had told me to drop my fascination had to be wrong.


Delving into Inez’s life and times, I discovered that she had performed a staggering fifty thousand abortions over a forty-year period. Neither a doctor nor nurse, she was known for her clean, hygienic and sterile clinic on lower Fillmore Street, performing abortions on as many as twenty women a day. From Inez’s years as a young unmarried mother toiling in a Pittsburgh pickle factory to her starring role as a national fixer for women “in trouble,” she was an outrageous, larger-than-life figure, a kind of combination of Wallis Simpson, Mae West, Margaret Sanger, and Coco Chanel.


Was Inez a prescient, indefatigable advocate for women—or an opportunistic femme fatale hustler?


It took almost a quarter of a century to answer that question. Inez became a siren that never stopped calling me.


Several years ago, I set out to find Corinne again, and I was heartened to discover that she was still alive at ninety-three. Corinne and her only son now lived together, and it was he who answered the phone when I called. After exchanging pleasantries, he handed the phone to his mother. Corinne’s speech had grown labored and halting over the intervening years. We lamented all the time that had passed. “Where’d it all go?” Corinne asked wistfully.


When I brought up Inez Burns once again, Corinne paused as she had during our last conversation. A tantalizing ten seconds elapsed without a response.


This time, Corinne didn’t drop the phone but said she’d have to think about the name. This time, she said, nothing came to mind.


Whether Corinne was concealing a memory in deference to her son, or whether her once-keen recollection had now grown foggy, is something I’ll never know for sure. I certainly felt mighty intrusive, inquiring about the woman who had almost terminated Corinne’s pregnancy, when her son was within shouting distance of her. We chatted some more, wished each other well, and said goodbye.


Between my first and last conversation with Corinne, I’ve spent tens of thousands of hours accessing court records, government documents, and newspaper archives, along with interviewing the precious few still alive who knew Inez. Her story has stayed with me as few others have. Descending into Inez’s checkered life became a detective story that matched anything Dashiell Hammett ever could have written. Just when I thought I knew all there was, another curiosity tempted me to go deeper.


Inez is a dark and jagged puzzle piece of lost Americana. History seeks to understand heroes and villains, but it has little interest in those in between. Almost all traces of Inez Burns today have been obliterated, as though she never existed. Like the sea, which seeks to cover everything in its wake, time has removed any remnants of Inez’s impact. Newspaper clippings about her are yellowed, in the process of disintegrating into dust. Today Inez is a nonperson.


But if, as actress Tallulah Bankhead once observed, “it’s the good girls who keep the diaries; the bad ones never have the time,”1 then Inez’s story was one that screamed to be told.





PROLOGUE





PINKY, BOOTSIE, and FATS
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Pierce-Arrow luxury car, 1936.







Whenever Inez and Joe Burns threw a party at their sprawling eight-hundred-acre ranch in the Santa Cruz Mountains, it was an event to remember. Scoring an invitation to one of her gala soirees might not have meant you were on society’s A-list, but it did mean you had a rakish value to the richest abortionist in California and her ex-politician husband. This particular bash was supposed to have been a celebration of Inez’s acquittal from abortion charges, not the hung jury that she got. At least, Inez hadn’t been convicted, so that was something worth celebrating. And who knew what would happen at the next trial—or even if there was going to be a next trial.


So why not? Inez and Joe never needed an excuse to throw a party.


Burns Ranch was a Great Gatsby–like compound with servants, cooks, horse groomers, and trainers. Located forty miles south of San Francisco, near Kingston Creek in La Honda, a rugged outpost along State Route 84, the ranch was several hairpin turns down the blacktop from the Log Cabin School for Boys and a raucous bar by the name of Apple Jacks. Burns Ranch was a boarding and training facility for thoroughbreds, including a gelding by the name of Sun Portland, who had just won big at Santa Anita, Del Mar, Belmont, and Bay Meadows.


At the ranch that evening in May 1946, Inez had invited the usual complement of cops, physicians, attorneys, Hollywood entertainers, and not just a few well-dressed, well-coiffed call girls. Inez’s old friends, Mabel Malotte, a popular San Francisco madam, and Nelly Gaffney, the owner of a couture women’s clothing store on Post Street, were there, as were Inez’s courtroom defendants, Mabel Spaulding, Myrtle Ramsey, Musette Briggs, and Joe Hoff. Inez’s oversize lawyer, Walter McGovern, came with his three chins, as did crooked private investigator Pop Aureguy with his thin, wormy lips and a few wispy threads that went for hair. Inez’s three-hundred-pound aide-de-camp, Fats Selmi, a kind of consigliere for issues large and small, wandered through the crowd to make sure no one was having too good a time. A harried and toothless cook by the name of Bootsie grilled rib eyes and corn on the cob on the stone patio behind the main house, while the “Latin Lowdown on Swing,” Joaquin Garay, strolled among the guests, serenading any señorita or señora who smiled at him. Joaquin’s big break had come in Frank Capra’s 1934 hit movie, It Happened One Night, starring Clark Gable and Claudette Colbert, when he sang “The Man on the Flying Trapeze.”


Everyone seemed to be having a grand time, eating but mostly drinking, sitting at linen-covered tables spread out on the rolling lawn. The burnt-orange sun had set and a swath of moist fog was beginning to roll in from the Pacific. By now, men on the terrace were pulling out Montecristo Especiales, and puffs of flames lit up their faces as trails of gray smoke rose, curled, and disappeared into the evening air.


The headliner that evening was a young comedian named Pinky Lee, who would soon have everyone in stitches. Pinky hadn’t made it big yet. Television would usher him into millions of American living rooms, but that wouldn’t be until the mid-1950s. At the time, Pinky was still a burlesque comic with impeccable timing and a bawdy sense of humor.


Pinky came up with a skit that had everybody laughing hysterically, even those who weren’t in their cups already. Men were slapping their knees and women held their hands to their chests as though it would help them breathe through their sidesplitting laughter. Pinky wore a silly polka-dot jacket, cutoff tie, and short baggy pants. He was singing an impromptu ditty about San Francisco district attorney Pat Brown, Inez’s nemesis:


There once was a rat named Pat,


This cat by the name of Brown.


Who wore a hat he thought was his crown.


With a bat he sicced his man Lynch


Only to learn that it wouldn’t be a cinch


To take down Inez, our lovable wench.


The crowd roared, clapping and hooting, and then joined in with a chorus of what would become Pinky’s trademark: Oooooh! You make me so mad!


The stanzas soon got raunchier and raunchier, but no one expected less.


Inez was there to throw the dice.


But Pat got his carrot stuck in a vice


With Inez there to give his manhood a slice,


Only to find there was nothing much to suffice.1


By the fifth round, Pinky had everybody rolling on the lawn, laughing uproariously under the flickering lights strung like in a Tuscany vineyard.
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Comedian Pinky Lee, who rose to fame with his children’s television program in the 1950s, was a frequent entertainer at the Burns Ranch.





Inez stood with Joe, both of them gazing out at the multitude of their friends, spread in a semicircle on this magnificent estate. It was as much a time to commemorate Inez’s success as to mark whatever lay around the corner. As Pinky played to the crowd, which was all his by now, Inez smiled and nodded. These were her intimates and supporters. Her people. Not the twelve strangers deciding her fate. What did they know? Would a judge really send a sixty-year-old woman to prison?


Inez felt a chill and buttoned up the soft yellow cashmere sweater she had draped over her shoulders.


Ever since she was eighteen, Inez had been an unsung savior to women, an invisible hand mending marriages, families, and reputations. All the while, she’d been the keeper of fifty thousand secrets. From incest and adultery to mothers with too many mouths to feed, Inez had fixed the consequences of ill-advised romances that never should have been. Industrialists sent their mistresses to her, politicians directed their “secretaries” her way, Hollywood moguls steered leggy starlets to her clinic, madams brought in girls in trouble, and, oh yes, every once in a while a nun pressed the buzzer to Inez’s front door. Just because you wore a black-and-white habit didn’t mean you weren’t like everyone else. “Natural desires” was how Inez put it. Everyone has them, you know.


Mothers, daughters, sisters, wives. Every woman. Contrary to any salacious notion about who might find herself in an abortion clinic, the majority of Inez’s patients were neither rich nor famous, single nor promiscuous. Most were married. Many were women whose husbands didn’t have a clue that their wives were pregnant, and never would. Even if Inez wasn’t officially recommended by the San Francisco Chamber of Commerce, she was endorsed by nearly everyone in town. She was a public utility, only a lot more reliable.


Why wasn’t in Inez’s lexicon. That was none of her business. She didn’t get in this line of work to counsel women. In an era when women had few rights, Inez gave them the most basic.


Word circulated, as it always does, when what you do, you do exceedingly well and your particular skill is highly specialized, in demand, and illegal. Women came from around the corner and across the nation. Whether they arrived in San Francisco by bus, automobile, train, ferry, or plane, they’d discreetly ask other women, sometimes strangers on the street, “Know where that Burns woman lives?”


Through an underground woman-to-woman network, they’d end up at one place—327 Fillmore Street, just south of San Francisco’s lively Jewish district, filled with butchers, bakeries, markets, synagogues, theaters, and kosher restaurants.


At the time, the prevailing standard in San Francisco and other American cities when it came to abortion was that if the woman undergoing the procedure didn’t die, the police looked the other way. Let the abortionists do what they do, as long as no woman gets killed or maimed in the process. A necessary evil with two mandatory components: the services had to be safe and discreet.


The fact was that just about every city in America had someone like Inez. Thousands of abortionists were spread far and wide in every region of the nation. They seldom were physicians, but in their medical specialty, women trusted them more than they trusted doctors. The difference between Inez and other abortion providers was that she was among the best and most experienced anywhere.


Why shouldn’t she be proud of what she did for a living? She didn’t have anything to be ashamed of. At the San Francisco Opera season opening, she had sashayed down the opera house’s red carpet, wearing an ostrich-feather hat, couture gown, sable stole, all accented by diamonds and pearls. Inez had not only been one of the most beautiful women in San Francisco, she was also among the most notorious.


If the blushing bluenoses at the opera hadn’t been patients of Inez at one time, then they knew women who had. Everyone in San Francisco did. Inez was San Francisco’s worst-kept secret.


She earned so much from performing so many abortions that she didn’t know what to do with it all, so she spent freely and frequently. She converted much of her profits into real estate, often purchased under aliases. In the process, she became a real estate mogul, collecting homes in and out of San Francisco the way philatelists collect stamps.


Any cash that didn’t go toward real estate went to custom-designed clothes and jewelry, meals at the city’s best restaurants, antiques, and cars. The hundreds of thousands of dollars left over found its way bundled into thick wads tied with red rubber bands, hidden for safekeeping inside banisters, wall compartments, hems of drapes, and under the basement floor of the elegant Mission District home she shared with Joe.


Through it all, Inez was an unapologetic libertine. Society’s stodgy rules were for other people. Why miss out on all the fun? She’d embarrass a sailor before and after she slept with him. All the while as Inez helped women, protecting them from the toxic clutches of predatory men, she was picking and choosing suitors for herself, whether for an evening or a month, whether she was married or not. She had the moxie to steal beaus from her own teenage granddaughter, Caroline, under the guise of offering the young men tutorials. “Forget Caroline. I want you for myself!” Inez would announce, pulling a young caller upstairs.


Vain to a fault, Inez underwent two ghoulish body-modification surgeries to accentuate her showstopper figure, subscribing to the benefits of cosmetic surgery before the two words were ever uttered together.


It was around that time when a young and aggressive district attorney by the name of Edmund G. (Pat) Brown decided Inez could do him some good. Pat needed someone to help spread his name far and wide, so why not pick Inez? Family values always sold well, and assailing the state’s No. 1 abortionist would surely pay off with votes.


With hoopla and fanfare, Pat convened grand juries, hired zealous prosecutors, and platooned legions of cops to raid her clinic as often as necessary. That’s what ambition does to a politician who wants to go places, and Pat wanted to go as far as the people would allow him, maybe further.


A young man in a hurry. Inez had known plenty like him. Bastards who wanted to use her. What men do to women all the time. Wham, bam, not even a thank-you-ma’am.


In the evenings, when the raft of her patients had left, Inez would draw a chamomile and rose hips bath in the big claw-foot porcelain tub on the second floor of her Guerrero Street palace, and depending on her mood and the day it had been, she’d shake her head and laugh. That was the only thing to do.


Could a woman really trust any man? Could she ever trust any man? Four husbands, if you counted the first and fourth ones, whom she never married. The first, George Washington Merritt, abandoned her in Pittsburgh, of all places. A charmer who swept her off her feet and dropped her with a thud while she was clutching two babies. The second, Billy Brown, a lazy sea captain whom Inez took care of for good. Best not to dwell on Billy. The third, continental four-flusher Charlie Granelli, what a disaster he’d been, robbing her blind. As though he could get away with raiding her chest of treasures. And finally, Joe, good ol’ Joe, the handsomest of them all.


Men are men and Pat Brown wasn’t any different. Just hungrier. He and his posse declared they knew what was best for women, even though it was men just like them who had gotten women into the predicaments that had prompted all the anguished trips to Inez’s clinic in the first place. Pat and his deputies screamed that women bore one hundred percent of the brunt of any pregnancy. The last time Inez checked, though, weren’t men fifty percent responsible? If there hadn’t been such a never-ending demand for her services, then why was there always a queue of women waiting for her every morning even before she unlocked the front door?


Not that Pat Brown ever worried about that. He was there to enforce the laws, by God, and if making a name for himself happened along the way, then who could blame righteous Pat for just doing his job?


Collateral damage? Newton’s third law of motion: for every action, there is an equal and opposite reaction. But that wasn’t Pat’s worry.


Putting Inez out of business meant it’d be more difficult for women to get what they would anyway, often at a terrible risk. Inez’s ready-made clinic kept women from attempting abortions on themselves using needles, crochet hooks, coat hangers, bleach, and scores of other deadly homespun remedies. Over the years, Inez had attended to untold numbers of panicked women who had thought to commit suicide while attempting to conceal a swelling stomach.


Pat might be able to put Inez in prison, but one thing he could never take away was her magic touch. Like clockwork, one after another. Line ’em up.


Bootsie and Fats were busy pouring silver fizzes all around. A toast.


Joe lifted his glass and everyone followed.


“Here, here,” Joe said, smiling broadly, as was his way. “To my wife, the Queen of San Francisco.”


Everyone clinked glasses and cheered. Inez smiled and nodded, as though she was royalty. “Down the hatch!” she said, followed by more applause.


As the evening wound down, Caroline’s job was to be the coat-check girl. She retrieved the men’s long wool coats and the women’s jackets and stoles. Tipsy Dr. Long Shot, who had known Inez forever, reached into his wallet and with fanfare gave Caroline a twenty-dollar tip, suggesting she “go buy an ice cream cone and have a lick on me.”


“Thank you, sir!” ten-year-old Caroline said, stuffing the bill in a little crochet purse she carried around and had slung over her right shoulder.


As the last of the guests woozily made their way to their cars, turning on their headlights in the gray fog, Inez stood at the oversize, hand-carved oak door to the rambling redwood house, Joe’s arm around her waist. It was one of the last times Caroline saw her grandmother and Joe so happy.





PART I



DREAMS
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San Franciscans at the beach with Cliff House in the background, ca. 1902.








ONE





MISFORTUNE IN THE PROMISED LAND
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A Jewish balloon man sells his wares on the edge of Chinatown, ca. 1896–1906.







Inez’s spectacular saga actually began thirty-eight years before she was born when an itinerant carpenter by the name of James W. Marshall discovered in 1848 glinting flakes in the cascading waters of Sutter’s Mill, midway between Sacramento and Lake Tahoe. That auspicious find led to what became known as the California gold rush. San Francisco, the port city down the road, became infused with more capital more quickly than any other city in American history. From 1847 to 1870, San Francisco’s population climbed from five hundred to one hundred and fifty thousand. By 1890, it had soared to three hundred thousand, making San Francisco the eighth largest city in the United States. In a little more than forty years, the number of people who lived in compact San Francisco had surged nearly sixty thousand percent. Wells Fargo moved its headquarters lock, stock, and barrel from New York City to San Francisco just to handle the avalanche.1


Like anyplace that spews instant wealth, whether from gold, silver, diamonds, emeralds, rubies, or oil, the men who seek to extract precious resources from the earth always have a vision of striking it not just big but huge. San Francisco epitomized this notion in spades, and conspicuous consumption became a virtue, making this a boomtown like no other. The city turned into a schizophrenic destination of competing halves: twenty-four-hour adult entertainment versus cultural and epicurean mecca. San Francisco was a confluence of violence, debauchery, and refinement. While thugs roamed the streets and vigilantes took justice into their own hands, bulging tycoons and hourglass-figured mistresses consorted; cigar-champing moguls bought and sold vast swaths of real estate, some underwater, some above; wealthy whalers set up shop at Point Lobos on the lookout for blubbery cetaceans; and eccentric millionaires, fixated on being remembered forever, planted outlandish extravaganzas onto the city’s perpendicular landscape. Into that peculiar mix toss in an assortment of bon vivants, adventurers, dreamers, con men, risk takers, go-getters, religious wackos, bohemians, and freeloaders. All were optimists seeking to cash in on the windfall of the American West’s mother lode of riches.


After six months in the dusty Sierra Nevada foothills, thrill seekers far from home became hell-bent on partaking in an outrageously good time, and San Francisco was their personal pleasure palace. Wide-eyed forty-niners (so named because of the year 1849) traveled to the Bay City with cash scorching holes in their pockets. Among the best ways to lose it all was a high-stakes card game called faro, also known as Bucking the Tiger, played in every saloon in town.
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Panoramic view of San Francisco, ca. 1851.





For those with resources still intact after shills rigged the tables, ravenous demand was met by a cornucopia of goods and services. In the process, San Francisco became a wholly separate American enclave—a spirited, anything-goes city that sold everything imaginable. About the only thing temperate about the city was its weather. Grizzly prospectors who lived in hot ravines and gullies were bowled over by what the breathtaking beautiful city by the bay offered. Carnivals, circuses, breweries, saloons, restaurants, hotels, opium dens, cigar parlors, and houses of prostitution lined San Francisco streets to provide men with whatever they could imagine and more, in a gung ho market financed by a gold fountain that gushed cash.


The most populated district was San Francisco’s Barbary Coast, a rowdy nine-block quarter bisected by Pacific Avenue, which went from the water’s edge at horseshoe-shaped Buena Vista Cove to Portsmouth Square, and from Montgomery to Stockton Streets. The district derived its name from the Barbary Coast of North Africa, where pirates, sailors, pimps, slave traders, extortionists, and other lowlifes transacted business. As in Africa, it was recommended that visitors to San Francisco’s Barbary Coast take firm hold of their wallets and not let go. Such advice was seldom followed. Wallets were frequently emptied, and not infrequently their owners found themselves subsequently drugged or beaten, only to awaken in a clipper ship’s hull sailing through the Golden Gate toward China, hence the transitive verb shanghai. The Barbary Coast was a dangerous place, made that way by gangs from New York’s Five Points neighborhood who called themselves the Hounds, followed by an equally lawless contingent of crooks and convicts from Down Under who took the name the Sydney Ducks.


Among those partaking in the lawless revelry was a young man who arrived as Samuel Clemens and left two years later as Mark Twain. Twain found San Francisco “the most cordial and sociable city in the Union,” and while he settled there to further his journalism career, like everyone else, he also made the trek in hopes of making a financial killing. Twain owned a portfolio of temperamental stocks in the Comstock silver mines. His career as a reporter fared as well as the volatile promissory notes he held, and after Twain was fired from the San Francisco Daily Morning Call, he headed to a place called Jackass Hill in Tuolumne County, and three months later sold a story about a feller in nearby Calaveras County named Jim Smiley and his pet frog who could jump prodigious lengths. The account made Twain an overnight sensation.2


Twain was among the tens of thousands who flocked to San Francisco, but it wasn’t just Americans who came in throngs to the Golden Gate to realize their dreams. Men from around the globe converged on San Francisco, transforming the city into a mélange of cultures. French, Chinese, Mexicans, Japanese, Italians, Irish, Swiss, Scots, Germans, and Brits all commingled on sandy hillocks, muddy alleys, and newly paved streets in what had become an international city. Each brought his own culture, clothing, cuisine, customs, and conversation.


In the beginning, few women joined this westward-ho mania sweeping America. “There was such a dearth of females in the San Francisco of gold-rush days that a woman was almost as rare a sight as an elephant, while a child was an even rarer spectacle,” wrote Herbert Asbury in his 1933 classic, The Barbary Coast. “It is doubtful if the so-called fair sex ever before received such adulation and homage anywhere in the United States; even prostitutes, ordinarily scorned and ostracized by their honest and respectable customers, were treated with an exaggerated deference. Men stood for hours watching the few children at play; and whenever a woman appeared on the street, business was practically suspended. She was followed through the town by an adoring crowd, while self-appointed committees marched ahead to clear the way to protect her from the too boisterous salutations of the emotional miners.”3


Another city observer, James R. Smith, wrote there were “no wives, no mothers, no one to cook dinner. The men in the gold fields didn’t have time to cook and likely didn’t know how.”4 Or as Robert O’Brien, a columnist for the San Francisco Chronicle, kindly put it: “Most of the women who arrived were hardly the home-cooking type.”5


San Francisco grew into an increasingly cosmopolitan place. Its port became the busiest on the Pacific Coast, its financial district labeled the Wall Street of the West. Dozens of foreign consulates began opening. Rincon Hill and South Park, between Third Street and the Bay, became fashionable neighborhoods for the nouveau riche.6 Opera came to town, as did theater, dance, and spirited lectures, rolled out in opulent palaces, such as the Grand and Tivoli opera houses, the Alcazar, Alhambra, Baldwin, Bush Street, California, Central, Chinese, Columbia, Fisher’s, Majestic, Morosco, Olympia, Orpheum, Republic, Valencia, and Wigwam theaters.


Some of the most sophisticated restaurants in America opened, including the pricey Poodle Dog, Maison Dorée, Maison Riche, Marchand’s, and the Grill at the Palace Hotel. In these vaunted establishments, diners vied to be seen (or not, depending on who their dining companion was). Food was viewed differently from almost anywhere else in America, where meals were fuel for sustenance, slopped on a plate to be gobbled down. Meals in San Francisco had been elevated to an art form. Sophisticated diners began eating for the newfound sensation of the pleasure of the palate. In the process, the affluent didn’t eat to live; they lived to eat. As often is the case, such a cultural transformation trickled down from the elites to a burgeoning middle class, and then to other American cities, making for the early beginnings of California cuisine.


While all of these newly arrived San Franciscans surely lived in the United States, many, particularly those able to keep some money in their pockets, fancied themselves separate and apart—brash, smart, often flamboyant, closer to habitués of Paris or Vienna than denizens of stodgy American cities like Boston or Philadelphia, places San Franciscans dismissed as parochial and provincial. The city of vertiginous hills and swaddling fog certainly didn’t look American and at times didn’t behave American. At its entrepreneurial core, San Francisco had morphed into a glamorous, diverse, and enlightened version of a wholly different America sprinting toward the twentieth century.
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Cover of a Morosco’s Grand Opera House program, 1895.





It was in this promised land, still celebrating the twin bounties of gold and then silver, that Inez Ingenthron was born on September 5, 1886. Although family lore put Inez as a Philadelphia native, the truth is that Inez was born in San Francisco, not in a hospital, but in a rear tenement, south of the city’s dividing line, Market Street, in an area known as South of the Slot (slot, because streetcars moved up and down the city’s main thoroughfare along a metal rail). South of the Slot was San Francisco’s equivalent to New York’s Hell’s Kitchen. In this neighborhood of warehouses, factories, flats, and wooden frame houses, ethnic gangs controlled each and every block, facing off when a rival gang member made the egregious mistake of setting foot on the wrong corner.


Like nearly all children born in San Francisco in that dawning era just thirty-six years after California joined the union, Inez was the product of parents who were newcomers, recent arrivals to America hell-bent on partaking in the bonanza the Golden Gate telegraphed to the rest of the world. Getting to San Francisco was an arduous journey for anyone, but especially for European immigrants. California represented the second leg of an impossibly long, ambitious, and treacherous trip. Once immigrants crossed the Atlantic, another uncertain expedition awaited them: three thousand more miles overland across the expanse of a foreign nation, marked by great prairies, expansive rivers and lakes, and treacherous mountains. Immigrating to the New World from Europe usually meant sailing to New York, although immigrant ships also headed for cities such as Baltimore, Boston, Philadelphia, New Orleans, and Quebec. Sailing directly to San Francisco, traversing the Panama Isthmus or going around the Cape Horn, wasn’t a ready option for poor Europeans at the time.


Inez’s father, Friedrich Ingenthron, was born in June 1853 in Traunstein, in southern Bavaria, Germany, thirty miles west of Salzburg, Austria. Friedrich was the youngest son of Dominic and Katherine Renjer Ingenthron; the couple had four other children: Barbara, Jacob, Catherine, and Joseph. Two months after Friedrich’s birth, Katherine hemorrhaged to death. With five mouths to feed, Dominic promptly found another wife, Magdalena Hock, nine years his junior. In spring, the newly reconstituted Ingenthron family set sail for America, trading all that was secure and comfortable for the wild unknown. With them, they packed a pioneer spirit, a heady dose of confidence that whatever might lie around the bend must be better than what they knew for certain was straight ahead.


The Ingenthrons left Europe from Le Havre, France, with five hundred and eighteen other emigrants aboard the ship Hemisphere. In cramped and odoriferous steerage, the seven Ingenthrons, including eleven-month-old Friedrich, made the Atlantic crossing in nine days. All but forty-one of the passengers registered their citizenship as German. Every adult on board listed his or her profession as a farmer, another way to say landless day laborer. The Hemisphere’s captain was John G. Pray, a surname that suited the trepidation shared by the ship’s masses huddled inside the vessel’s hull.7


Armed with John Shea’s Englisch-Amerikanisches Handbuch für Auswanderer und Reisende, an American-English pronunciation guide, the German-speaking Ingenthrons arrived in New York City on May 8, 1854. The family was herded through Castle Garden, the first immigration station established in the United States, predating Ellis Island by four decades.8


New York proved to be a transitory home for the Ingenthrons. Within two years, the family moved a thousand miles inland to the American heartland, settling in Petersburg, Indiana, the western dot of an isosceles triangle with vertices at Cincinnati and Lexington, Kentucky. Dominic Ingenthron chose southwest Indiana to engage in the artisanal profession of cigar making—rolling the aromatic, broad tobacco leaves found in abundance in the region. Son Friedrich was to follow in the same calling. At the time, the anesthetizing practice of cigar smoking, as well as tobacco chewing, was wildly popular throughout the United States, a habit promulgated by soldiers in the Civil War.


At a Saturday evening church social, Friedrich chatted up a dark-haired local girl, Alice Belle Cross, the middle daughter of seven children born to brickmaker William Cross and his wife, Mary. When Alice was fifteen, William had died, and Mary pushed Alice to find a husband, making for one less child to drain the family’s limited resources. In 1873, Alice and Friedrich married in Lawrenceburg, Indiana, a mercantile port along the Ohio River. Both were twenty years old. The couple’s first child, Nettie, was born a year later, followed by Harry in 1877.


Alice and Friedrich, who by now had Americanized his Germanic name and was known as Frederick, along with children Nettie and Harry, moved three hundred miles north to teeming Chicago, where Frederick secured work as a cigar maker. There, the couple had another son, Walter. The five Ingenthrons squeezed into a tiny apartment at 571 Fourteenth Street in a working-class neighborhood that today is adjacent to Grant Park.
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Madam Blanche Oulif’s French Millinery on the northwest corner of Grant Avenue and O’Farrell Street, ca. 1881.





If not for personal reasons, moving to Chicago made economic sense. Cigars were king and a ready market awaited Frederick there. One of the largest suppliers in the nation was Grommes & Ullrich, an importer of Cuban cigars, located at 174–76 Madison Street; Chicago boasted hundreds of other cigar makers, including titans Sprague, Warner; Franklin MacVeagh; Best, Russell & Co.; and Sutter Bros. In addition to firms readily hiring tobacco rollers, there was a familial reason for the Ingenthrons to relocate. Frederick’s oldest brother, Jacob, had established himself as a mover and shaker in the rising city on the shores of Lake Michigan. Frederick adored his prosperous big brother and relished the prospect of a reunion.9


Jacob was a joiner. He’d been elected Noble Grand Arch of the United Ancient Order of Druids, a fraternal order founded in London a century earlier; he was elected secretary to two progressive international organizations, German-American Democracy and the Anti-British Alliance League. Without any formal training, he hung out a shingle as an attorney, taking on an assortment of clients, and throwing himself headfirst into the rowdy world of Cook County politics. In 1900, Jacob was elected a delegate to the Democratic National Convention held in Indianapolis, and supported the party’s presidential nominee, populist William Jennings Bryan. That same year Jacob Ingenthron was named Chicago city prosecutor.10


One immigrant’s meteoric rise into the political world of America’s fourth-largest city didn’t necessarily mean his brother would follow suit. Frederick Ingenthron’s skills weren’t oratory or cerebral but manual, and for a man of his skills and resources, the attraction of San Francisco’s economic windfall was too great a draw. An experienced tobacco roller with a ready market on the West Coast, Frederick would have a job for life. Or so he thought.


In a city as flush with money as San Francisco was, men who were men showed their wealth in direct proportion to the length, girth, and quality of the cigars they stuck in their mouths. The demand for premium cigars was so great that there were more smokers than high-quality cigars available. In the wake of the gold rush, journeymen cigar makers had abandoned their workbenches to head for the Sierra Nevada foothills, where they could make more money panning for gold than rolling tobacco. Chinese immigrants promptly filled the labor void, and by 1870, eighty percent of the cigars rolled west of the Rockies were made by Chinese laborers working in sweatshops for rock-bottom wages. In San Francisco, there were thirty thousand Chinese nationals, and more were arriving on ships streaming through the Golden Gate every week. The ethnic tilt produced a backlash of virulent racism, as seen in the federal Chinese Exclusion Act in 1862, which set a moratorium on Chinese immigration for ten years, at a time when every other nationality was setting out for America daily. Vigilantes burned down Chinese laundries, and arson became an almost daily occurrence in San Francisco’s Chinatown.11


No matter their quality, cigars produced by Chinese workers were viewed as inferior. A white man who put his lips to a cigar touched by Chinese hands was considered a traitor to his race. As a result, the Cigar Makers Union organized in San Francisco with the mandate to replace Chinese laborers with white rollers. To do this, manufacturers needed experienced white cigar makers. But there was such a scarcity that union representatives had to travel east to Chicago and New York to entice journeyman rollers to San Francisco with the promise of employment. As a bonus to relocate, white cigar makers were offered train passage west.


It was an offer impossible to refuse. To celebrate the move west, Frederick cast off his last German vestige, announcing to one and all his intention to be called Fred once he arrived in San Francisco. As a send-off, Jacob gave his younger brother the munificent gift of twenty Liberty Head five-dollar gold coins to establish Frederick’s family in San Francisco. Jacob ordered the shiny coins directly from the San Francisco Mint as a way to welcome the reinvented Fred and his family.


In the late fall of 1885, two scions of the Ingenthron family parted at Chicago’s newly opened General Union Passenger Depot, at the corner of Madison and Canal Streets. Together, Jacob and Frederick had nine children, all of whom they brought to the station on a cold but sunny November morning. The two brothers stiffly shook hands, then, realizing the formality of such a stilted encounter, embraced. Frederick’s wife, Alice, tearfully bade farewell to Lette, Jacob’s wife. The children played blindman’s bluff in the boarding area, hiding behind wooden benches till they heard a high-pitched whistle and a blue-uniformed conductor with a matching hat, shout, “All aboard!” As Frederick and his family stepped onto the Overland Flyer, there was too much gaiety and excitement in the air to comprehend the gravity of the two families’ imminent division. That was the last any of them would see one another again.


The Ingenthrons traveled to Council Bluffs, Iowa, then took the Union Pacific to Ogden, Utah, followed by the Southern Pacific to Reno, Sacramento, and finally to the western terminus at Oakland Mole, before ferrying across the Bay to wondrous San Francisco. The family stayed in a series of rooming houses on the waterfront, then found permanent housing at 2351/2 Perry Street, South of the Slot, where Inez was born and spent her first six years.
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A view looking west on California Street from Sansome Street, ca. 1905.
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A mother and child carry New Year’s presents in Chinatown, ca. 1896–1906.
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A union label of the Cigar Makers’ Association of the Pacific Coast asserting that the cigars were made exclusively by white men.
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Patrons linger outside the Joss House, or temple, in Chinatown, ca. 1896–1906.





As promised, Fred Ingenthron secured employment in 1888 at Louis Wertheimer & Co., 115 Front Street, one of the largest cigar manufacturers in San Francisco. Two years later, the city directory showed Fred working for H. Plagemann & Co., at 212–20 Sansome Street, another prominent cigar maker. Both manufacturers took pride in boasting they hired only white men as cigar makers. Cigar boxes from the “White Cigar Makers,” as the manufacturers proudly called themselves, contained this advisory: “The cigars contained in this box are made by skilled labor, under the control of white men.” Being white allowed Fred to earn twice what Chinese cigar makers made, twelve dollars a week versus six.12


While expensive cigars may have been representative of San Francisco’s ascendant wealth, the cigar industry’s capitalization missed a critical correction. The Cigar Makers’ International Union failed in its efforts to exclude Chinese laborers from the industry, and the lower-priced cigars triumphed. Smokers chose to pay less for stogies no matter whose hands they were rolled by. With an abundance of Chinese cigar makers, the disparity of labor costs made white rollers cost-prohibitive and they were soon priced out of the workplace.13 Cigar making belonged to the Chinese.


Unemployed in a distant and expensive city, Fred Ingenthron took to spending more and more time in neighborhood saloons South of the Slot. Jobs were difficult to find, at least that’s what Fred told Alice, and Inez’s father began to pass more and more of his days drinking steins of steam beers, steams, as they were called. As men proceeded farther south, the neighborhoods got dicier, the taverns rougher. Most taprooms had cuspidors as a convenience for patrons, but in the saloons Fred frequented, patrons spit on the floor, and on occasion at each other. Fred often fell asleep drunk, slumped on a stool, head pitched forward on the bar.


Alice wouldn’t see her husband for days, and when he finally did show up at the family’s walk-up, he was alternatively angry and sullen. Any warmth Alice once had for her husband had disappeared. To the four Ingenthron children, their father was to be avoided, particularly when he was on a bender. By now, Alice knew how to defend herself, and any match between the two strongly favored Alice, who wasn’t shy about throwing punches. One night, Alice threw Fred out of the apartment, pushing him down the flat’s steep flight of rickety wooden steps. If Fred already hadn’t felt defeated, he endured the disgrace of getting beaten up by his wife. He soon found himself in a squalid flophouse near what was known as Butchertown, a district of slaughterhouses and tanneries, where gambling on cockfights and exactly how many rats men could stomp and kill were popular pastimes. Abattoir workers threw habitués intestines, brains, tongues, and hearts that they’d fight over and then cook at open-pit fires in China Basin. The twenty Liberty Heads Jacob had given Fred to herald a new life in San Francisco were long gone.


At the age of thirty-nine, Fred Ingenthron died of either consumption or acute alcoholism. No one seemed to care enough to find out which. A worker from the city morgue visited the family flat to inform Alice of her husband’s death and asked whether she’d come downtown to identify the body, a request she declined.14
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Inez’s sister, Nettie Ingenthron.





Unable to afford the walk-up, the family moved to 444 Fifth Street, then hopscotched to flats at 1165 and 1346 Howard Street, and finally to 221 Elsie Street in a faraway and inaccessible district with muddy, unpaved hilly streets, filled mostly with working-class Irish families. The rents in Bernal Heights were a fraction of other neighborhoods in the city.15 Alice, Inez, and Nettie slept in one bed, and Walter and Harry in another. Alice advertised for tenants to make ends meet, and as long as they took an occasional bath, they could sleep anywhere they wanted, which sometimes meant with Nettie and Inez. Meanwhile, Alice and Nettie, who had become an honors student at Rincon Grammar School,16 became seamstresses and dressmakers with a fourth-hand Singer sewing machine that broke down more than it worked. Harry was a numbers runner, spiriting bets to and from cigar stores along Courtland Avenue. Walter took a streetcar to work for a South of the Slot blacksmith, tending carriage horses. The Ingenthrons’ meal of the day was potatoes. If Harry or Walter passed by Butchertown early enough to scavenge a scrap, the potatoes would be accompanied by an animal organ neither Nettie nor Inez wanted to identify.
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The Music Pavillion at Golden Gate Park, ca. 1902.





As for Inez, the baby of the family, she got the brunt of the family’s misfortune. Alice, at forty, had turned into a bitter widow. When precocious, russet-haired Inez would seek attention, climbing onto her mother’s lap, she’d be greeted with a swift slap of the back of Alice’s callused hand, with the warning “Stay away from me, you little brat!”


Inez started at Franklin Grammar School on Eighth Street, between Harrison and Bryant Streets, but when the family moved to Bernal Heights, Alice didn’t bother to enroll Inez in school, a luxury Alice said the family couldn’t afford. During evenings, Alice used to rail at Inez and Nettie about how to ensure any semblance of fairness or equality with a man, none of whom she trusted. “Don’t ever fight with ’em with an open hand,” Alice would counsel her daughters. “Go after ’em with your fists, so they know you mean business.”17
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Visitors to Golden Gate park look out on the conservatory greenhouses, ca. 1897.





Meanwhile, Nettie had met a stenographer by the name of Edwin Conhem Hawkins, and the two married on July 18, 1894, when Nettie was twenty. But after a whirlwind courtship, the newlyweds fought constantly. Money was one issue, mother-in-law Alice another. Edwin had quit his job as a stenographer and fancied himself an artist.18 One particularly tempestuous evening, Hawkins left the couple’s flat only to return with a wagon and a pair of friends. The three men carted off all of the couple’s possessions, including the matrimonial bed and kitchen stove. A nasty divorce subsequently played out on the third floor of San Francisco superior court in Department Five. Edwin charged that his wife was a “weak woman and entirely controlled and dominated by the stronger mind of her mother,” whom he labeled as a “designing person”; Superior Court Judge John Hunt Jr. granted Nettie a dissolution of marriage decree.19
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The Sutro Baths, ca. 1898.





At twenty-two, Nettie was a scorned woman. So was adolescent Inez by association. Both girls knew that Edwin Hawkins had been right in his assessment of Alice, whose response to her daughter’s divorce was “Haven’t met a man I could trust further than I could throw ’im.”


Nettie dusted herself off as well as she could. She merited two notices on the society pages of San Francisco newspapers. The San Francisco Call reported Nettie went to the thirty-third annual gala banquet of the Caledonian Club, held at the Scottish Hall, at 117 Larkin Street, with four hundred other guests who danced the night away five days before Christmas.20 Six weeks later, Nettie wangled another invitation to society king Ned Greenway’s First Friday Cotillion, held at the Assembly Hall, 320 Post Street.21
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A Sunday afternoon at Golden Gate Park, ca. 1902.





One positive element of Nettie’s divorce was that she could now better care for Inez. The two girls rode the streetcar to the just-opened Golden Gate Park to marvel at the assortment of exotic trees chosen and planted by a man named McLaren. There was a preponderance of pines, cypresses, and strange saplings called eucalyptus, whose seeds had come all the way from Australia. Eucalypti emitted a pungent, tangy aroma the sisters had never smelled before, and they grew to enjoy sitting in an arboreal grove near Stanyan Street. Nettie and Inez would then catch the Ocean Shore Railroad, which dropped them off in front of another new and magnificent city attraction, the Sutro Baths, with its seven resplendent pools. The sisters would perambulate inside the huge glass structure, perched on forested cliffs overlooking the Golden Gate. Nettie and Inez never swam. Instead, they promenaded with fans in hand, smiling coyly at admirers, even though Inez was barely a teenager. Nettie was pretty but compared to her sister—well, there was no comparison.


In any free time, Inez took to reading, a skill she had taught herself. She had to keep books she’d borrowed hidden from her mother. Reading was a waste of time, frittering away your life when you ought to be working, and if you weren’t working, then you ought to be cleaning, washing, dusting, sewing. “What’s it gonna do for you ’cept fill your head with dreams,” Alice raged. Any book found in the house would be tossed into the rubbish.


On a Monday afternoon in early March, Inez planned to meet one of her girlfriends, a girl with high cheekbones and dark eyes by the name of Anna Thompson, at Westerfeld’s, a bakery downtown on Market and Sixth Streets. Anna and Inez bought six sugar-sprinkled cinnamon and clove cookies called pfeffernüsse, their favorites.


Anna brought her five-year-old niece, Mabel, to the bakery with her. Mabel’s father had gone out to the corner store for a cigar one evening and never came back; that left Anna to care for her niece while Mabel’s mother, Gladys, worked as a laundress at Peerless Laundry on Eighth Street downtown. With dark-haired Mabel sitting at a table, alternately playing with a rag “Brownie” doll and making a mess eating one of the powdery cookies, Anna had news to share with Inez. The Palace Hotel was hiring.


“Really?” was all Inez could say breathlessly. “Doing what?”


The opening was for manicurists in the hotel barbershop, Anna said, a profession about which neither girl knew anything. That job didn’t interest the girls, but working in the Palace did.


The new Palace Hotel on Market and New Montgomery Streets was the most refined hostelry not just in San Francisco but in all of America. The brainchild of William Chapman Ralston, who wanted to build a hotel as worthy of San Francisco as it would be of its name, the Palace was spectacular. Six years earlier, Ralston had built the twenty-four-hundred-seat California Theatre on Bush Street with instructions to his architect to “find out the biggest theater in the world and make this one ten feet bigger.” When finished, for opening night Ralston chose Edward Bulwer Lytton’s five-act play, Money,22 as sure a sign of resplendent San Francisco as any.


However opulent the California Theatre was, it paled in comparison with the Palace, a source of civic pride even among jaded city dwellers who thought they had seen it all. Bells and whistles rang throughout. The Palace dazzled with a seven-story courtyard into which horse-drawn carriages dropped off guests on a circular marble driveway. The courtyard was surrounded by seven hundred fifty-five rooms. Undergirding the building were twenty miles of gas lines, six miles of sewer drains, and twenty-eight miles of water pipes. In each room, there were vitreous water closets manufactured by china makers from Staffordshire, England. Private artesian wells pumped twenty-eight thousand gallons an hour through the hotel. Five elevators (called “rising rooms”) with redwood paneling and red-velvet cushioned benches inside sped guests to their floors. The dining room was illuminated by chandeliers with thousands of crystal prisms. Dishes were Haviland from Limoges, France; Irish linens came from Belfast, then known as “Linenopolis”; blankets were woven at Ralston’s own Mission Woolen Mills; tables, dressers, beds, and chairs had been assembled in the Eastlake style from Ralston’s West Coast Furniture Company; rugs, carpets, draperies, canopies, and window shades came from W. & J. Sloane in New York; the silver was handcrafted by E. H. H. Smith Silver in Bridgeport, Connecticut. Hand-painted murals of clipper ships, the Golden Gate, Lake Tahoe, and Yosemite, adorned the first-floor walls. Each floor had a corps of black servants who waited on guests hand and foot.


“Ralston had planned the Palace as a symbol of San Francisco’s coming of age,” is how historians Oscar Lewis and Carroll D. Hall put it, “to mark the closing of one era and the beginning of another, the end of the transition from mining camp and raw boom town to established city.”23


And Inez and Anna would be smack in the middle of it all. Little Mabel would soon be old enough to go to school, and that would free Anna to work at the Palace.


At the time, wealthy men, not women, got their nails cut, polished, and buffed in barbershops. Holding a fine cigar with ragged cuticles and unlacquered nails just wouldn’t do in San Francisco society. Think of the men they’d meet, Inez suggested. Both girls giggled.


What other job allowed a woman to sit so close to a man who wasn’t her husband? And in public? Other than prostitution, what other job allowed strangers of the opposite sex to touch? The girls were breathless with anticipation.


Working at the Palace would be an opportunity to rub elbows with men Inez had only stolen glances at from afar, moneyed men she’d never have reason to associate with. On Tuesday, Inez and Anna planned to present themselves at the barbershop.


But just before Monday dinner, Anna came by the Ingenthron flat on Elsie Street. She told Inez that her parents had forbidden her to take the job. No good Catholic girl worked as a manicurist, even if it was at the Palace. With Mabel in school, Anna would have to find work, perhaps at Peerless or Westerfeld’s, her parents suggested. For her part, Inez hadn’t bothered to tell Alice where she planned to go the next morning. She already knew what the answer would be.


“They seemed awfully set on me not working there, especially my father,” Anna said, lifting her shoulders into a shrug. “You go tomorrow, Inez. I’ll be rootin’ for you.”


The next day, Inez put on her only lace dress, grabbed a modest brimmed hat of Nettie’s, took the streetcar downtown, and strode right into the magnificent Palace. She could feel herself ogling the glass ceiling, the open grand parlor, and the well-dressed guests with their array of matching leather luggage piled sky high.
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The court of the Palace Hotel, 1895.





Inez had walked into a fantasy spun out of one of her books—until a bellboy walked up to her and said that all job applicants had to enter through the Jessie Street side of the hotel.


“Next time, when ya start, dose are da rules, miss,” the boy, no more than sixteen, told Inez before winking at her.


Inez got herself to the barbershop and talked to the woman in charge of the manicure girls, who looked Inez up and down.


“She look all right to you, Vernon?”


A thin, bald man with a red face, dressed in a white smock, glanced Inez’s way. “Sure do,” he said, nodding at Inez in an amiable way. “We’d be glad to have you work in the shop, ma’am,” he said.


The stout woman who introduced herself as Myrtle, perhaps ten years older than Inez, pronounced that Inez could come back the next morning to start, even after Inez had confessed that she’d never given a manicure in her life. “Oh, that don’t make no difference,” Myrtle said. “You know how to smile, doncha?”





TWO





THE WONDERFUL WIZARDESS OF THE PALACE HOTEL


Myrtle had been right. Learning to attend to the cuticles of rich men was easy. Within two months, seventeen-year-old Inez had mastered the delicate art of the manicure. There were certain tasks at which she wasn’t yet proficient, but Inez, or Iney as they called her in the barbershop, seemed to be able to handle nearly anything that came her way.


She looked forward to leaving the cramped Bernal Heights flat she shared with her mother, sister, brothers, and the revolving door of rough-and-tumble pensioners. Every morning when she walked past the swirling red, white, and blue barbershop pole, Inez entered a wholly distinct world.


The four barbers, Vernon, Henry, Virgil, and Dewey, went about their appointed tasks on the other side of a vitrine in full view of everyone passing by—their every movement on display. Sometimes it was a shave, other times a haircut, often it was both. Inez liked the routine, sights, and smells: the unfurling of the starched white cape; the stiff collar affixed around each man’s prickly neck; the steaming-hot Turkish towels draped, curled, and wrapped atop each customer’s face with just the tip of a red nose peeking out; the constant whoosh of scissors snip, snip, snipping. When the barbers honed their ivory-handled straight razors against the smooth thick leather strop, Inez grew to anticipate the swacking sound, as she did the smell of the hot-shave lather and the lime-green elixir the barbers slapped on the men’s faces that made them wince. As a kind of grand denouement, the barbers would sprinkle talcum powder from a metal can on the men’s necks, whisked away by a soft horsehair brush, which had the effect of creating for a second or two a snowy wonderland. Vernon and Virgil worked fast, speaking only when asked a question. Henry and Dewey were the talkers, volubly holding forth about everything from the weather, sports, politics, and the latest opening in town.


Inez wore the uniform the Palace supplied her: an elongated flared dress with a hem that came to the floor, accentuated by a high, tight waist, and a collar that covered the bottom half of her neck. Inez softened the ensemble with a coral cameo Nettie had given her or by wearing a rose she made from strips of red silk she curled and then pressed into a blossom. Both complemented her thick, long hair, which a smitten client one day pronounced was “Titian-colored,” a reference to the sixteenth-century Venetian painter Tiziano Vecellio. Titian painted young women, often courtesans, voluptuous and seminude, with rich, dark-red hair.1 Inez had no idea who Titian was or what he painted, but she took the comparison as a compliment.


Two walls of the shop were covered with mirrors, and more than once Inez caught men staring at her reflection. She knew never to look back, of course. That would be inappropriate, so she’d gaze downward, half smiling, at the veined marble floor. Sometimes, Inez felt customers’ eyes boring into her from their perches in the high barber chairs. As she commenced a manicure, some men would curl their fingers into a bowl of soapy water and never say a word. With their other hand, some men could fold a newspaper into quarter sections and read every article on every page, word for word, it seemed. Sometimes, they’d talk to the barbers about the news while Inez would listen and nod amiably. For the most part, these men seemed timid, almost afraid of her.


Myrtle’s initial counsel to Inez proved to be spot-on. The job of the manicurist, Inez soon discovered, was the art of smiling, lending a sympathetic ear to whatever the man was talking about, whether it was the latest sporting event or political matchup. Inez was a quick study, whether the subject at hand was the Big Game between Stanford and Cal or the Big Four monopoly. But she knew never to express an opinion. She deferred to the barbers for that, and usually they demurred.


In addition to being swallowed up by the testosterone-saturated culture of the barbershop, there was another reason for Inez’s taciturn manner: She hadn’t gone beyond the sixth grade. Inez had little understanding of business, politics, sports, or culture, at least at this point in her life she didn’t. She couldn’t very well engage these men in the issues of the day. About the only statement she could make was her captivating feminine presence.


In the meantime, Inez set out to improve herself. She had boosted her reading skills and elocution enough so that her speech, she hoped, wouldn’t betray her origins. She picked up a book at the public library that everyone was reading at the time, a bizarre story of a girl from Kansas who’d been whisked away by a tornado to a magical land of witches and talking animals. It was a fanciful tale called The Wonderful Wizard of Oz. Inez related to Dorothy Gale and took to reading the book aloud to herself, softly, as she rode the streetcar to work every morning. She didn’t dare leave the L. Frank Baum volume in the house, lest her mother find it and toss it in the garbage.


By all accounts, as a manicurist at the city’s swankiest hotel, Inez had elevated herself from a penurious girl destined to marry a neighborhood boy, have a brood of children, struggle to feed them, get smacked on more than several occasions, and then die of an undetermined disease by age fifty. Instead, Inez was hobnobbing with some of the richest men in California. These were men of means and merit. By the turn of the century, San Francisco had become second only to New York in the value of its domestic and foreign trade. Railroad tycoons Charles Crocker, Leland Stanford, Collis Huntington, and Mark Hopkins had all died by this time, but Inez had regulars who had done business with each of them. These men didn’t live South of the Slot but instead had built majestic homes on the newly developed hills north of Market called Russian and Nob.


Inez could tell that Joey, the bellboy who had winked at her that first day in the Palace, was interested in her, but he was no more than a bellboy. Pleasant and amiable, but why would Inez want to return the favor when there were so many rich, learned, and connected men all around her? This was the golden age of San Francisco, brighter and better than the brawling years of the gold rush. Inez sensed greater opportunities, even for her.


As an employee, Inez wasn’t allowed to ride the redwood-paneled rising rooms, and even if she could afford the famous Grill Room, she wasn’t permitted to eat there. But she had heard about the delicacies offered therein. A man by the name of Ernest Arbogast was the chef and had turned into one of the nation’s arbiters of high cuisine. At least, that’s what several of Inez’s clients had told her. Arbogast served unconventional and exotic meals that included frog legs, oysters, duck, pheasant, quail, and a sweet tender meat that came from a shellfish called abalone.


Anyone who was anyone chose to stay at the Palace, and Inez found herself stealing glances at the most notable as they made their way through the lobby. Wealthy families stayed for weeks on end, often as a prelude to boarding ocean liners bound for Europe around the horn, or across the Pacific to the Orient. One day, as Inez walked on New Montgomery Street to the employees’ entrance, she found herself face-to-face with John D. Rockefeller himself, the industrialist said to be the wealthiest man in America. She was so nervous she felt faint, forgetting for a moment to breathe. Inez had seen Mr. Rockefeller’s picture in the newspaper, and at first she couldn’t believe that the very same man was striding her way at the center of a phalanx of assistants, valets, accountants, bookkeepers, and guards who had exited the hotel’s rear door to avoid the growing knot of reporters crowding the lobby. Behind Rockefeller and his entourage was a diminutive, homely woman at the center of her own bevy, whom Inez assumed to be Mrs. Rockefeller. The Rockefeller retinue had taken over the entire sixth floor at the Palace, and the scuttlebutt among hotel employees was that Mr. Rockefeller’s personal physician was among the convoy, attending to a disease that had rid his boss of every strand of hair! Now on Jessie Street, Inez couldn’t take her eyes off Mr. Rockefeller. He was carrying a bowler hat in his right hand presently to cover his head, but when she looked at him closely, she noticed he was wearing a full wig, and one that very much looked like a wig. A man as rich as Mr. Rockefeller, Inez mused, and he had a disease all the money in the world couldn’t cure.


Rockefeller wasn’t the only celebrity Inez saw at the Palace. One day she looked out the barbershop vitrine to see a real prince, dressed in the spanking-white military regalia of his country, with a resplendent sash diagonally spanning his chest, accented by a battalion of glimmering gold medals. He was striding through the main hallway as though he was about to seize control of a neighboring nation. Dewey said the man was Rama V, the crown prince of Siam, who had passed through the portals of the Golden Gate the day before on his own royal steamer.


The Palace was also the temporary home for opera singers, musicians, dancers, and actors imported to perform for wealthy San Franciscans eager to get their dose of culture. The list included such megawatt stars as Sarah Bernhardt, Emma Nevada, Adelina Patti, Frederick Warde, Trixie Friganza, Anna Held, Eugenie Pappenheim, Loie Fuller, Lillie Langtry, Sibyl Sanderson, and Ellen Terry. Just catching a glimpse of any one of these celebrities made Inez go weak at the knees, but of all of them, it was tiny Emma Nevada who struck Inez as the greatest. Known as the Sagebrush Linnet, Miss Nevada slayed all of San Francisco with her rendition of “Listen to the Mockingbird,” a ballad of a grief-stricken man who hears a mockingbird warble above the grave of his dead fiancée.2 Many in the audience at the Grand Opera House were so moved by her performance that they lost their composure and openly wept. The next day, Miss Nevada visited the Palace’s barbershop, the only female customer ever to set foot in the shop, at least since Inez had started. Miss Nevada promptly instructed Virgil to give her a trim. While he was “lowering her ears,” as Virgil put it with a smile, Inez had the honor of attending to Miss Nevada’s nails, which had nary a cuticle.
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Actress Anna Held, seen here ca. 1900, was one of the many stars Inez encountered at the Palace Hotel.





There also were regulars who showed up at the Palace barbershop, including San Francisco mayor Eugene Schmitz, a former conductor of the Columbia Theatre orchestra, and Abraham Ruef, an attorney with a thick black triangle of a mustache that made his upper lip impenetrable. Both would talk in sotto voce whispers through steaming towels covering their faces. Henry and Vernon had their hands full trying to shave the men’s sandpaper beards smooth while they carried on their hushed conversation. Neither ever had his hands manicured, but Inez was fascinated nonetheless. They seemed polar opposites. Handsome Gene had watery blue eyes, a full head of wavy hair, and a ready smile. Ruef had an angular face and slits for eyes that gave Inez the willies. Henry once whispered that Ruef was what was called a “political boss.” Inez wasn’t sure what that meant exactly, but on several occasions, she saw the mayor slipping into the pocket of Ruef’s morning coat a bulging envelope. Inez glanced over at Myrtle, who lowered her eyes, telegraphing that Inez might want to do the same.


Another regular at the barbershop was a horseman by the name of Dan McCarty, though everyone called him “White Hat” due to the fuzzy white beaver hat he always wore with the exception of when he got a haircut. White Hat showed up daily at the Palace, where he picked up his mail and had a kind of personal office in the lobby. White Hat boasted that he owned more horses than anyone else in the world. The San Francisco Call’s racing reporter Freddie Green recorded that White Hat had “won and lost more than a million dollars on the racetracks of the country, and was known from Maine to California.” White Hat’s biggest claim to fame was winning a hundred thousand dollars in the American Derby at Washington Park in Chicago back in 1887 with a fifty-to-one shot. He proudly confided to Inez that he’d been arrested fifty-seven times for racing his horses on the streets of San Francisco. He also had a habit of never tying them up, so when police found a horse roaming the city, they knew whom it belonged to.3
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Abe Ruef (center) receives whispered news from one of his attorneys, ca. 1907.





For their part, most of the men who frequented the barbershop dressed in cutaway morning suits or frock coats (known as Prince Alberts), waistcoats, high-collared shirts, bowlers, silk top hats, stovepipes, and slouch and plug hats. The bottom halves of their faces were often covered with beards or mustaches waxed and curled. Almost all were married, legally at least. Many had “arrangements,” Inez was to learn. They appeared in public with their wives, they raised their children with their wives, they went to the theater, opera, and church with their wives, but in private they squired around young women, escorting them to restaurants with screened-off upstairs dining rooms. Inez had heard about such places, restaurants with exquisite food, endless bottles of French wines, and expectations for dessert.


Inez observed married men who checked into the Palace with women who weren’t their wives, as well as married women who consorted with men who weren’t their husbands. Occasionally, women checked in together, saying they were sisters, and the front-desk clerks hardly raised an eyebrow. Plenty of women weren’t who they said they were, angling to impress men who, truth be known, weren’t anywhere near who they represented themselves to be, either.


After a year on the job, Inez grew bold enough to try an experiment. She began by softly stroking her clients’ hands under the guise that she was massaging them. It became a discreet dance of flirtation; the men could make whatever they wanted of her manipulations. She also took to positioning herself beside the men, occasionally brushing up against their knees and forearms, by accident of course. She was a third the age of many of these men, and taking nothing away from their wives, she was not only fresh and buxom but also radiant. What man wouldn’t enjoy savoring such proximity with such a young and engaging woman, even if it led to nothing more than a bigger tip for her?
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Actress Lillie Langtry as Cleopatra, ca. 1891.





Whatever it was that she was doing, Inez began building a clientele of besotted gentlemen who’d ask for her by name. Regulars told their business associates about the winsome manicurist at the Palace, and they too became clients. They were pleased to pay a dollar for the thirty-minute pleasure of holding Inez’s hand as she softened, repaired, filed, and polished their nails.


It meant that for the first time in her life, Inez was able to save money of her own. One day she splurged and actually bought L. Frank Baum’s next book, The Marvelous Land of Oz, an extravagance she realized, but nonetheless a treat she devoured. With her mounting savings, Inez also bought several stiff corsets, the woman’s undergarment that was all the rage, which sharply pulled in her naturally cinched waist and accentuated her curves. Each morning, Inez took to having Nettie lace the corset so tightly that it occasionally rendered her light-headed. The bodice actually made Inez sound breathy.4


Soon, the real reason legions of men frequented the barbershop wasn’t as much to get their hair or whiskers shorn as it was to socialize with the comely manicurist with long chestnut-colored hair. These men might have been among the most influential in San Francisco, but in Inez’s hands, they were putty. Floating down the main hallway at the Palace, she’d toss her tresses over her girlish shoulders and arch her back, tilting her head just so as she pursed her full lips.
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Who is that woman?


Men smiled, craning their necks to get a view; women seethed, shaking their heads.


Inez had become a melding of confidence, beauty, smarts, and sexuality during an era when women weren’t given to flaunting much except subservience. Emboldened, Inez created a signature to go with her manicure. To mark the end of a session, she’d stand, then instruct the men to wrap their hands around her waist, its circumference no more than twenty-one inches. The ploy was twofold: to allow the men a sanctioned way to touch her and to show off her tiny, pinioned waistline. She’d lift her chin, her thick hair cascading the length of her back, and as the men would put their hands on either side of her waist, she’d giggle as though she’d just been tickled.


No one knows whether Inez provided more than manicures, but she certainly took in an awful lot of tips and, on occasion, pocketed more than cash. Regulars regaled her with gifts of necklaces, brooches, cameos, and earrings. She took care not to wear any of them to work. If other men thought she was someone else’s favorite, there’d be no more trinkets, she knew.


Without a formal education, setting her sights on becoming a schoolteacher, nurse, or bookkeeper wasn’t in the cards for enterprising Inez. She knew that being a manicurist was hardly a path to financial security. The best she could hope for was to secure a job as a clerk at a downtown department store or working with her friend Anna Thompson, who had found employment at Westerfeld’s Bakery. But in either employ, Inez wouldn’t earn nearly as much as she was making now.


Her prospects for marriage? San Francisco gentlemen picked wives from similarly suited well-to-do families. If a single woman sought to earn any substantial income on her own, she’d have to offer a necessary and vital service, and she’d have to do it better than anyone else. And what could that possibly be for a respectable young woman?
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